# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

#### A.J. STOVALL, APPELLANT

VS.

#### W.L. HAYES AND HOLLY SPRINGS TIRE, APPELLEE

NO. 2006-CA-02144

# APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MARSHALL COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI M2005-487 JC

## **BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT**

#### ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

Latrice Westbrooks, Esq. Mississippi Bar No. The Law Office of Latrice Westbrooks, PLLC 5269 Keele Street, Suite B (39206) Post Office Box 14203 Jackson, Mississippi 39236 601-982-7884 (telephone) 601-982-7889 (facsimile)

#### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES**

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

# I. WHETHER THE LOWER COURT'S ERRONEOUSLY FOUND THAT MUTUALITY OF CONSENT EXISTED BETWEEN STOVALL AND ANY REPRESENTATIVE OF HOLLY SPRINGS TIRE?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### I. Nature of the Case

The Appellant seeks to reverse the ruling of the Marshall County Circuit Court. The lower court ruled that the agreement between the Plaintiff and Defendant was modified by subsequent course of dealings and the course of conduct between the Plaintiff and Defendant. The trial court also amended the complaint/pleadings to include a mechanic's lien, ruling in favor of the Defendant.

#### II. Course of Proceedings and Disposition Below

#### A. Procedural History

On September 30, 2005, the Plaintiff filed a complaint with the Marshall County Justice Court against the Defendants. In Justice Court, the judge ruled that the Defendant return the car to the Plaintiff and that the Plaintiff pay a sum of four hundred dollars (\$400.00). On November 22, 2005, the Plaintiff appealed, de novo, the decision of the justice court to the Marshall County Circuit Court. An initial judgment was rendered for the Plaintiff but set aside on April 11, 2006, as the Defendants has not received notice of hearing. After a hearing on November 9, 2006, the lower court entered a judgment on December 4, 2006, in favor of the Defendant/Counter-Plaintiff in an amount of eight hundred sixty-eight dollars and twenty-two cents (\$868.22).

### **B.** Substantive Facts

A.J. Stovall, a professor at Rust College, owned a 1998 Plymouth Dodge Neon. The car was a pre-owned vehicle and sometime in April 2005, the meter for the heater/cooler started going over to hot. (T.rec. 10). On May 2, 2005, Mr. Stovall took the vehicle to be diagnosed and the problem was determined to be the fan was not "kicking in" all the time. Next, he took the car to a Dodge Plymouth dealership in Southaven, Mississippi and that service department could not determine what the problem was because the car did not show any problems while it was in their possession. (T.rec. 12, 13). Afterwards, Mr. Stovall drove the car (when he was able) until he left the country at the end of May 2005.

When Mr. Stovall returned to the county, the vehicle's heater needle still indicated the car was running hot. In August 2005, it was suggested that he go to Holly Springs Tire. He went there and spoke to the mechanic, Greg Wilson. Stovall never conversed with the William Hayes about the car unless he was looking for Mr. Wilson (T.rec. 13, 14). He never discussed a price or any other dollar amount with Mr. Hayes prior to servicing the vehicle. According to Mr. Stovall, he told Mr. Wilson what was happening with the car but that nobody seems to know what the problem is. Mr. Wilson assured Mr. Stovall that he could fix the car. (T.rec. 14). Upon Wilson's statement, Mr. Stovall told him, "if you can fix it, then fix it". (T.rec. 14). <sup>1</sup>

Due to the brevity of the trial exhibits, all have been included in the record excerpts, page/tab 2.

Stovall left the car with Wilson on that following Monday, August 15, 2005. He received a call later that day telling him that the car was ready for pick up. (T.rec. 15). He received a bill and was told to go inside. This is when he sees Mr. Hayes who gave him a receipt for one hundred sixty-two dollars (\$162.00). Stovall noticed that there were things done to the car that were not really needed but he did not complain as long as the car was fixed.<sup>2</sup> (T.rec. 15). Once he got in the car, he attempted to test drive the car to Memphis. Before he got to the Red Banks exit, the needle started to indicate that the car was running hot again.(T.rec. 17). After receiving some advice, he had the car towed back to Holly Springs Tire. The next day, he saw Mr. Wilson and told him what happened. Mr. Wilson told him to leave the car with him and he would figure out what went wrong with the car. Wilson called Stovall back. Stovall went to see him and he told Stovall he needed a water pump. On August 27, 2007, Stovall purchased the water pump and came back to the mechanic shop a couple of days later. Wilson told Stovall that the water pump did not do what he needed it to do. (T.rec. 18). He then stated the car needed a timing belt. At this point, Stovall reminded Wilson that he told him initially that he did not want to spend a lot of money and Wilson told him during their first visit that he could fix the car. Stovall asked Wilson for a flat rate and that he would not pay beyond that. Wilson quoted him a price of two hundred dollars (\$200.00). (T.rec. 19). Upon accepting that quote, Stovall also stated that he would buy the parts and he wanted to test drive the car for two (2) days prior to delivering payment to Holly Springs Tire. Wilson accepted the terms by saying "Deal",

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The extra things done were wiper blades, thermostat and coolant in the air conditioner.

forming the verbal agreement.<sup>3</sup>

On September 2, 2005 Stovall purchased the timing belt and delivered it to Wilson. Wilson then tells Stovall, it's your head gasket. Stovall then purchases the head gasket and delivers it to Wilson. At no time did Wilson or any other representative of Holly Springs Tire tell Stovall the agreement needed to be changed.<sup>4</sup> Two weeks passed by and Stovall gets a call saying your vehicle is ready. Stovall goes to see Wilson, who points him inside the shop and tells him he has to go inside. (T.rec. 21-22). Stovall goes inside the building and a gentleman gives him a bill of eight hundred sixty-eight dollars and twenty-two cents (\$868.22). Stovall took the bill outside to Wilson and protested stating this is not what we agreed to and you have to do something. He also told Wilson, "you know what I agreed to". Wilson then goes inside and speaks to Hayes, who then reduces the invoice by two hundred dollars (\$200.00). (T.rec. 22). Stovall then protests to Hayes saying this is not what Wilson agreed to and Hayes tells him, "No. It's six hundred (\$600.00)". Stovall left the premises and immediately pursued this action in the Marshall County Justice Court filing an action in Replevin.

## ľ

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Marshall County Circuit Court did abuse its discretion in its Judgment, finding that the agreement had been modified and that the Defendants are entitled to an award of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>There was no written estimate or agreement between the parties.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Stovall would asked every morning during the two week period and ask about the car and Wilson would tell him, he can't get to it yet.

eight hundred and sixty-eight dollars and twenty-two cents. Verbal agreements are valid agreements but as to any contract, there must be a meeting of the minds and any modification must have all the essential elements, including mutuality of consent as the first agreement.

There was no meeting of the minds to modify the agreement between Stovall and Wilson or any other representative of Holly Springs Tire. Stovall consistently asked if the price for labor was \$200.00 and the response Wilson gave him was always yes. Lastly, Stovall had no notice of a mechanic's lien as none had been filed against him. The testimony during trial mentioned nothing about a lien, only about violating the agreement between Wilson and Stovall. Hence, the court abused its discretion and erroneously found that all elements of an agreement or contract existed in any alleged modification.

#### ARGUMENT

#### I. Standard of Review

The admissibility of evidence is governed by the abuse of discretion standard of review. *McLendon v. State*, 945 So.2d 372 (Miss. 2006) *citing Culp v. State*, 933 So.2d 264 (Miss. 2005). The discretion of the trial judge must be exercised within the boundaries of the Mississippi Rules of Evidence. *McLendon citing Beech v. Leaf River Forest Prods.*, *Inc.*, 691 So.2d 446 (Miss. 1997). A trial judge sitting without a jury is allowed the same deference as a chancellor. *Pritchard v. Van Houten*, 2007 So.2d (2005-CA-00710-COA) *citing City of Jackson v. Perry*, 764 v. 373 (Miss. 2000). A trial judge's findings of fact following a bench trial will not be disturbed on appeal as long as they are supported by substantial, credible and reasonable evidence. . . . Issues of law, however, are reviewed under a de novo standard. *Mickalowski v. American Flooring, Inc.*, 2007 MSCA 2005-CA-

01864-052907 citing *City of Jackson v. Brister*, 838 So.2d 274 (Miss. 2003). Thus, the Court will not disturb the trial court's findings unless they were manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous or an erroneous legal standard was applied. *Pritchard* 2007 So. 2d at (¶20).

## II. Whether the Lower Court's Erroneously Found That Mutuality of Consent Existed Between Stovall and any Representative of Holly Springs Tire?

During his second visit to Holly Springs Tire, Stovall made a verbal contract with Wilson. Wilson told Stovall he could fix the problem with the car. Wilson told Stovall he could fix the car for \$200.00. After accepting Stovall's terms to test drive the car, Wilson stated, "Deal". Wilson, as the mechanic, acted as an agent for Holly Springs Tire. Stovall testified that he had no actual dealings with Hayes until it was time to present the payments. For a contract to exist, essential elements must exist: (1) two or more contracting parties, (2) consideration, (3) an agreement that is sufficiently definite, (4) parties with legal capacity to make a contract, (5) mutual consent and (6) no legal prohibition precluding contract formation. *Murray Envelope Corp. v. Atlas Envelope Corp.*, 851 So.2d 426 (Miss. 2003); *Hunt v. Coker*, 741 So.2d 1011 (Miss.Ct.App. 1999); *Mauldin Co. v. Lee Tractor Co. of Miss., Inc.*, 2006 So.2d (2004-CA-02150-COÁ).

The Court did not disagree that an agreement had been reach by the parties. During the first visit to the shop, Wilson told Stovall he could fix the vehicle. When Stovall picked the car up, Wilson presented Stovall with the bill and Stovall presented the bill to Hayes. Wilson, acting as an agent, presented himself to have the legal authority to make a contract or an agreement with Stovall, the customer. Wilson had apparent authority to act as agent for Holly Springs Tire. Stovall relied to his detriment on the representations made by Wilson. The Apellees will contend that Wilson did not have the actual authority to commit repairing the vehicle for \$200.00. However, actual authority is not litmus test upon which this honorable Court need answer the question:

The power of an agent to bind his principal is not limited to the authority actually conferred upon the agent, but the principal is bound if the conduct of the principal is such that persons of reasonable prudence, ordinarily familiar with business practices, dealing with the agent might rightfully believe the agent to have the power he appears to have. The agent's authority as to with whom he deals is what it reasonably appears to be. So far as third persons are concerned, the apparent powers of an agent are his real powers.

The finder of fact must determine whether there is sufficient evidence to meet the three-pronged test for recovery under the theory of apparent authority, which requires a showing of (1) acts or conduct of the principal indicating the agent's authority, (2) reasonable reliance upon those acts by a third person, and (3) a detrimental change in position by the third person as a result of that reliance. *Patriot Leasing v. Jerry Enis Motors*, 928 So.2d 856 (Miss. 2006).

Wilson admitted that he dealt with Stovall initially and claimed he did not remember quoting Stovall an amount. (T.rec. 47, 48). He also stated that he did not see Stovall go inside and speak with Hayes about a quote. (T.rec. 52). Hayes testified that he was not apart of any discussions between Wilson and Stovall. (T.rec. 63). The lower court found that any agreement that was formed included various and saundry changes in the agreement, thus acknowledging Wilson's apparent authority.

Inherently finding that an agreement or contract existed, the Court erroneously determined that the agreement had been modified through a series of actions. The actions would consist of Wilson telling Stovall that the problem is the head gasket instead of a timing belt. There was a mutual agreement that the part needed to be changed but the amount of \$200.00 never changed.

There was never a mutual consent between the parties in the case at bar. Any contract may, before a breach occurs, be changed or modified in one or more of its details, by a new agreement also bilateral, by the **mutual consent of the parties**, without any new independent or distinct consideration. *Albert Mackie & Co. LTD. v. S. Dale & Sons*, 122 Miss. 430, 84 So.2d 453 (Miss. 1920). Even if Stovall purchased new parts, that still does not indicate that he mutually consented to change the price quoted to him initially. Hayes was never privy to any discussion that took place between Wilson and Stovall. (T.rec. 63). Further evidence of Stovall's lack of mutual consent to change the price of \$200.00 was (1) he continuously asked if the charge will still be \$200.00 (T.rec. 21) and (2) Wilson's and Hayes' efforts to reduce the exaggerated price of \$868.22 by \$200.00 (T.rec. 22). Any modification of the initial agreement between the parties lacked mutuality of consent, therefore making any alleged subsequent agreement void. Modifications to an agreement still require mutuality of consent (even where there is no new consideration). *Gregory v. Lacy*, 156 Miss. 147, 125 So. 722 (Miss. 1930).

# **CONCLUSION**

Appellees respectfully pray that this Court reverses the Judgment of the Marshall County Circuit Court. The lower Court did not deny the existence of an agreement to repair the 1998 Plymouth Neon for \$200.00. There was not a modification of the agreement between the parties to repair the vehicle for more than amount quoted. The lower court's decision was not supported by substantial, credible and reasonable evidence and Mr. Stovall should have his car restored to him and an amount of \$200.00 paid to the Defendants. The Appellant also request any relief under the principals of law and equity to which he may be entitled.