## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

A. J. STOVALL

**APPELLANT** 

Vs.

Cause No: 2006-CA-02144

W. L. HAYES and HOLLY SPRINGS TIRE

APPELLEES

# BRIEF of the APPELLEES, W.L. HAYES and HOLLY SPRINGS TIRE

# ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MARSHALL COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

(ORAL ARGUMENT IS NOT REQUESTED)

#### **SUBMITTED BY:**

KENT E. SMITH, MSB # JUSTIN S. CLUCK, MSB # SMITH WHALEY, P.L.L.C. ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEES Post Office Drawer 849 Holly Springs, Mississippi 38635 Telephone: (662) 252-3003 Facsimile: (662) 252-3006

### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

A.J. STOVALL APPELLANT

Vs. Cause No: 2006-CA-02144

### W.L. HAYES and HOLLY SPRINGS TIRE

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Whether the Circuit Court of Marshall County was correct in finding that the contract entered into by the parties was modified by the parties subsequent course of dealings and course of conduct.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellant, Dr. A.J. Stovall, filed a Complaint on September 30, 2005 in the Justice Court of Marshall County against the Appellees, W. L. Hayes and Holly Springs Tire, in regard to a contract dispute between the aforementioned parties. The Marshall County Justice Court ordered Dr. Stovall to pay a sum of \$400.00 to W. L. Hayes and Holly Springs Tire and further ordered W.L. Hayes and Holly Springs Tire to return the automobile to Dr. Stovall for the aforementioned compensation.

Dr. Stovall appealed the Justice Court decision to the Marshall County Circuit Court on November 22, 2005. The Marshall County Circuit Court entered judgment on December 4, 2006, finding that Dr. Stovall should pay \$868.22 to W. L. Hayes and Holly Springs Tire.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

Circuit court judges sitting without a jury are accorded the same deference given to a chancellor when reviewing their findings of fact. *Mason v. State*, 799 So.2d 884, 885 (Miss.App.2001)(*citing City of Jackson v. Perry.* 764 So.2d 373, 376 (Miss.2000); *Puckett v. Stuckey*, 633 So.2d 978 (Miss.1993); *Sweet Home Water & Sewer Ass'n v. Lexington Estates, Ltd.*, 613 So.2d 864, 872 (Miss.1993); *Allied Steel Corp. v. Cooper*, 607 So.2d 113, 119 (Miss.1992)). If the Judge's factual findings are supported by substantial, credible, and reasonable evidence, then their holdings are safe on appeal. *Id.* At review, an appellate court must accept the evidence from the record which supports or reasonably tends to support the lower court's decision in determining a question of fact. *Jackson Public School Dist. v. Smith*, 875 So.2d 1100, 1102 (Miss.App.2004). The lower court's findings of fact will not be disturbed unless those findings are manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, or an erroneous legal standard was applied. *Bell v. City of Bay St. Louis*, 467 So.2d 657, 661 (Miss.1985).

The existence of a contract is a question of fact that will be determined by a trier of fact. 75A Am.Jur.2d Trial § 791 (1991). Whether an agency relationship has been created is also a question of fact and may be established the same as any other fact. The Plaintiff bears the burden to prove that the relationship existed and if proven, such a relationship will exist regardless of the intentions of the parties and their designation of the relationship. *Butler v. Bunge Corporation*, 329 F.Supp. 47, 56 (N.D. Miss.1971)(citing 3 Am.Jur.2d § 21 at 430).

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In April of 2005 Dr. Stovall experienced problems with the thermostat in his 1998 Plymouth Neon which caused the vehicle to overheat. After taking the vehicle to several auto repair shops, he eventually came to Holly Springs Tire where a mechanic, Greg Wilson, told him he could repair his vehicle. After initial repair work did not remedy the thermostat problem Dr. Stovall told Greg Wilson to "get it fixed." After several more failed attempts to diagnose the cause of the engine overheating Greg Wilson finally determined that a faulty head gasket was causing the car to overheat. After the repairs were completed, Dr. Stovall returned to collect his vehicle but, and was presented with an invoice for the labor costs totaling \$868.22. Dr. Stovall disputed that he had agreed to pay those charges and instead of paying for the services rendered he filed a replevin action in the Justice Court of Marshall County.

The Justice Court awarded \$400.00 to Holly Springs Tire for the services rendered and, after payment awarded Dr. Stovall possession of his vehicle. Dr. Stovall then instituted an appeal to the Circuit Court of Marshall County. At Circuit Court the Judge held that the parties had agreed to an original estimate for the work, but that the original agreement was modified by the subsequent dealings between the parties as the original estimate did not contemplate the future work necessary to repair the vehicle and would not be valid. The Court gave possession of the vehicle back to Dr. Stovall and ordered him to pay the necessary labor costs of \$868.22. Dr. Stovall now appeals the decision of the Marshall County Circuit Court.

#### ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES

### A. Statement of the Facts Relevant to the Issues Presented for Review.

In April of 2005 Dr. Stovall experienced problems with the thermostat in his 1998 Plymouth Neon which caused it to overheat. (R.E. 1). He first took the vehicle to Southside Auto where the cooling fan was diagnosed as the problem. (R.E. 1-2). Dr. Stovall then took the Plymouth Neon to the Plymouth Dealer in Southaven for repairs. (R.E. 2). After a week of inspection the Plymouth Dealership mechanics found no problems with the automobile.

After another week of driving Dr. Stovall noticed the car instruments showed the engine was overheating again. (R.E. 3). He then took the vehicle back for another inspection at the Plymouth Dealership in Southaven. Again the Plymouth Dealership found no problems with the car; however, the problem persisted. (R.E. 4). Upon recommendation, Dr. Stovall took the vehicle to Holly Springs Tire in mid-July.

Dr. Stovall discussed his mechanical problems a mechanic at Holly Springs Tire, Greg Wilson. Greg Wilson was neither the owner or manager of Holly Springs Tire. Greg Wilson told Dr. Stovall he could diagnose the cause of the problems and repair the vehicle. Dr. Stovall said, "if you can fix it, fix it." (R.E. 5). Greg Wilson never quoted a price for the repair to Dr. Stovall, as all estimates are handled by the owner, W.L. Hayes. (R.E. 21)

Dr. Stovall picked up his car on August 15, 2005. (R.E. 6). Greg Wilson directed Dr. Stovall paid for the repairs and took the Plymouth Neon on a test drive. (R.E. 7). During that test drive the thermostat showed the engine overheating again. (R.E. 8). Dr. Stovall had the vehicle towed back to Holly Springs Tire for further repair. After

replacing the water pump and timing belt on the vehicle, Dr. Stovall alleges that he and Greg Wilson entered into an oral agreement regarding the price for the repair. (R.E. 10-11). However, Greg Wilson never quoted any price to Dr. Stovall, as his only duties at Holly Springs Tire involved actual mechanical work. (R.E. 21)

Greg Wilson finally determined that a faulty head gasket was the cause of the overheating and had to be replaced. (R.E. – 12-13). After the head gasket was repaired Dr. Stovall returned to Holly Springs Tire to collect his vehicle. (R.E. 13). The invoice for the repairs was \$868.22. Dr. Stovall protested the amount of the invoice and Holly Springs Tire gave Dr. Stovall a discounted rate of \$668.22, which was the charge for labor. (R.E. 13). Dr. Stovall refused to pay the invoice and instituted legal action in an attempt to avoid paying anything at all for the repairs. (R.E. 15).

# B. The Lower Court was Correct in its Factual Finding that the Parties Modified their Original Agreement

For a contract to be valid all essential terms of the contract must be understood. Busching v. Griffin, 465 So.2d 1037, 1040 (Miss.1985). The essential elements for a valid contract to exist are:(1) two or more contracting parties, (2) consideration, (3) an agreement that is sufficiently definite, (4) parties with legal capacity to make a contract, (5) mutual assent, and (6) no legal prohibition precluding contract formation. Lanier v. State, 635 So.2d 813, 826 (Miss.1994). Further, a contract is sufficiently definite if it contains matters which will enable the court under proper rules of construction to ascertain its terms. Leach v. Tingle, 586 So.2d 799, 802 (Miss.1991).

"Parties with a legal capacity to make a contract," is the most important issue used to determine whether a verbal agreement was reached in the case *sub judice*.

Lanier, 635 So.2d at 826. At trial facts were elicited from Dr. Stovall which allege that Greg Wilson quoted a price for repair of his vehicle. However, Greg Wilson disputed that he ever quoted a price to Dr. Stovall, because that duty is outside the scope of his employment with Holly Springs Tire. Rather, Mr. Wilson's position is that of a servant who is employed to perform work but not given the authority to act on his employer's behalf. Whether an agency relationship exists is a question of fact. Butler, 329 F.Supp. at 56 (N.D.Miss.1971)(citing 3 Am.Jur.2d § 21 at 430). The burden of proof rests with the plaintiff in this regard. Id.

There are three situations in which a person may seek to have someone else perform some service for him: (1) principal and agent, (2) master and servant, and (3) independent contractor. Richardson v. APAC-Mississippi, Inc., 631 So.2d 143, 147 (Miss.1994). The agent-principal relationship is an outgrowth of the master-servant relationship and for this reason they are more closely related than a relationship that involves an independent contractor. Id.(citing 53 Am.Jur.2d Master and Servant §§ 3-4 (1970)). In general, there is no distinction separating the liability of the principal for his agent just as there is no distinction between that of master and servant. Id. But, an agent is not a servant and the distinction between the two rests on the authority of an agent to contract for his principal whereas a servant has no authority to represent his master in business, instead he performs merely mechanical services. Id. In short, a servant surrenders his physical activities and time to the master. Rest.2d Agency § 220.

Greg Wilson, who is a mechanic and not the owner or manager of Holly Springs

Tire, is merely a servant of Holly Springs Tire. He was not given the authority to act as

an agent who could give estimates to the public for Holly Springs Tire, nor has he ever acted in that manner as is evidenced by the testimony presented at trial:

- Q. Okay. So as a mechanic and in your 25 years experience, they tell you what the problem is, or they tell you that my car needs to be fixed, and then you tell them this is how much I can fix it for, right?
- A. No, I don't do that.
- Q. That's normally how it goes in the mechanic business, isn't it?
- A. I send them in the office to discuss that.
- O. You sent him in the office?
- A. He never went in the office.
- Q. Because he always talked to you?
- A. Yeah. I didn't really quote prices. That's what I'm hired for.
- Q. You quoted him a price of \$200, didn't you?
- A. Unh-unh. I don't remember that.

(R.E. 16)

- Q. Now, again you stated that you never quoted a price?
- A. No I didn't.
- Q. And you're saying that Dr. Stovall went to Mr. Hayes and got a price quoted; is that what you're saying?
- A. He was supposed to.

(R.E. 20)

- Q. You work on cars?
- A. Well, Mr. Hayes do all paperwork. All I do is handle wrenches
- Q. And you deal with customers primarily?
- A. I tell them what's wrong with the vehicle. They get the price in the office. Okay? That's the way it goes.

(R.E 21)

Dr. Stovall contends that Mr. Wilson was acting with apparent authority as an agent on behalf of W. L. Hayes and Holly Springs Tire. This argument is based upon Mr. Wilson's alleged conduct exhibited to Dr. Stovall when he brought his vehicle in for repairs; however, Mississippi courts have held that no apparent authority exists where an agency relationship, either actual, expressed, or implied does not exist. XYOQUIP, Inc. v. Mims, 413 F.Supp. 962, 966 (N.D.Miss.1976).

Determining whether an agency relationship exists depends upon the facts and circumstances surrounding the situation. XYOQUIP, 413 F. Supp. at 965 (quoting 2A C.J.S. Agency § 36.) For an agency relationship to exist there must first be a factual showing of a manifestation by the principal that the agent shall act for him. Id. The agent must next understand the authority granted to him and the agent must accept this authority to act on the principal's behalf. Id. These occurrences move the relationship beyond the scope of a mere employer-employee relationship and create an agent-principal relationship. Id.

However, this Court need not address this agency argument because the lower Courts ruling addressed only the fact of this case. Dr. Stovall claims that he was quoted a fixed price of \$200 to repair his car, regardless of how much labor was actually required to get the car back to a serviceable condition. W. L. Hayes and Holly Springs Tire presented evidence at trial that no fixed price was ever quoted, and that because the vehicle had a litany of problems, such as replacement of the water pump, thermostat and head gasket, they could not repair the vehicle for \$200.00. The Court then made a purely factual determination that the parties had entered into an original agreement based to repair one set of problems, but during the course of their dealings, more problems arose thus causing the parties to modify their previous contract. Accordingly, Dr. Stovall is appealing this holding based upon the facts of the case, and not on any legal standard which was allegedly misapplied by the lower court. If the Court's factual findings are supported by substantial, credible, and reasonable evidence, then their holdings are safe on appeal. Mason v. State, 799 So.2d 884, 885 (Miss.App.2001)(citing City of Jackson v. Perry, 764 So.2d 373, 376 (Miss.2000);

Further, the Plaintiff presented no facts at trial showing that Greg Wilson had the authority to quote estimates to the general public. Instead Dr. Stovall just assumes that an agent-principal relationship existed. The existence of an agent-principal relationship is a question of fact which must be proven by the plaintiff. *Butler*, 329 F.Supp. at 56. Dr. Stovall's appeal of the lower court's factual findings should not be disturbed on appeal.

# C. Overruling the Lower Court's Factual Finding Would Result in Unjust Enrichment

The theory of quasi or constructive contracts is founded on a principal of law which prevents a person from enriching himself at the expense of another. *Koval v. Koval*, 56 So.2d 134, 137 (Miss.1991)(citing 17 CJS Contracts, § 6). A quasi-contract is an obligation created by law where no agreement exists whereby the actions of one party places within the person of the other party a benefit that "in equity and good conscience he ought not to retain and which justice or fairness belongs to another." *Id.* (citing Old Men's Home, Inc. v. Lee's Estate, 669 So.2d 791 (Miss.1942)). The basis for such an action "lies in a promise that one will pay to the person entitled thereto which in equity and good conscience is his." *Id.* To determine if such a relationship exists can be inferred by the conduct of one party to another as observed by a reasonable man. *Id.* (citing Cooke v. Adams, 183 So.2d 925 (Miss.1966)).

After several attempts to repair Dr. Stovall's Plymouth Neon, the problem was identified and corrected. This effort cost W. L. Hayes, Holly Springs Tire, and Greg Wilson considerable time and effort; something which no other dealership or mechanic up to this point was capable to do. Now, Dr. Stovall is attempting to obtain these services for free, or at a discounted rate, which would be detrimental to W. L. Hayes, Holly

Springs Tire. There is no consideration for this position. Therefore this Court should act a equity requires and affirm the decision of the Circuit Court.

## **CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, this Honorable Court should affirm the verdict of the Circuit Court of Marshall County, Mississippi.